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          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Good afternoon.

          3  This is a hearing of the Committee on Youth Services

          4  jointly with the Subcommittee on Juvenile Justice.

          5  My name is Ken Fisher, Council Member from Brooklyn.

          6  I am joined by Council Member Annette Robinson, who

          7  is the Chair of our Subcommittee, as well as Council

          8  Member Pedro Espada from the Bronx in whose district

          9  the Spofford Juvenile Detention Facility is located.

         10                 Those of you who have been following

         11  the Committee for the last year know that we have

         12  been closely watching a series of circumstances in

         13  the juvenile justice arena.

         14                 Several questions have arisen that we

         15  have had addressed at a number of hearings, and we

         16  thought that as the year came to a close it was

         17  appropriate to see where we are, whether we have

         18  made any progress and where we think we are going to

         19  be.

         20                 Specifically one of the issues that

         21  has come up repeatedly has been whether or not the

         22  categorization of young people who are engaged in

         23  the system is always made appropriately. In other

         24  words, are there young people who are sent to secure

         25  detention who would be more appropriately housed

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  than a non-secure detention facility, and whether we

          3  have adequate number of beds to accommodate them,

          4  given some of the contracting issues that have

          5  arisen in the past.

          6                 This was brought into sharp focus

          7  recently by a litigation brought by the Legal Aid

          8  Society, and there are some recent developments

          9  which I believe Legal Aid will be testifying about

         10  later on.

         11                 The second question that the

         12  Committee has been concerned about are the overall

         13  trends in the population. We seem to be seeing an

         14  increase in the number of young people being

         15  incarcerated even at the time when crime overall is

         16  down. In some cases youth arrests are down. And so

         17  we are concerned about what has been driving that

         18  trend, and I know it has been difficult to get any

         19  consensus as to why that is the case, but we could

         20  keep coming back and back to that issue because we

         21  are looking for ways to keep young people out of

         22  jail rather than finding simply more sites in which

         23  we can house them.

         24                 And thirdly, and it is sort of the

         25  culmination of those other two issues, the Committee
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          2  has been concerned about the use of the Vernon C.

          3  Bain, whether it was an appropriate facility for

          4  juveniles to be housed on. At the time that it was

          5  first proposed to use the Bain it was part of the

          6  plan to close the Spofford Detention Facility. The

          7  Department has subsequently determined that Spofford

          8  at least in part should be real and from fairly

          9  strict timetables have been established for getting

         10  the young people off of the Vernon C. Bain. So, we

         11  would like you, Commissioner, to address that issue

         12  in particular, and give us an update on the status

         13  of things.

         14                 Having said that, before I introduce

         15  the Commissioner of the Department, I will now turn

         16  to the Chair of our Subcommittee, Council Member

         17  Robinson, for a brief opening statement.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: Thank you

         19  very much, Chairman Fisher. I, too, would like to

         20  just say that recent findings have indicated that

         21  some of the facilities that have a responsibility

         22  for the care of our young have not kept them in a

         23  safe and secure environment and we are concerned

         24  about our children and their safety and their

         25  security, and so therefore today we convene to find
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          2  out what is the status of the facilities in terms of

          3  how our children are being kept and there is also

          4  litigation pending, I understand, in regards to a

          5  lawsuit for children that were kept in secure

          6  detention that should have been in non-secure

          7  detention, and we are concerned about that and how

          8  the agency is moving to provide for their safety and

          9  security.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: We have been

         12  joined by Council Member Clarke from Brooklyn, and

         13  now let me announce that if anyone is here to

         14  testify in connection with this hearing, please make

         15  sure that you see the Sergeant-At-Arms at the rear

         16  of the room and fill out one of these witness slips

         17  so we would know to recognize you.

         18                 Commissioner Hernandez, the floor is

         19  yours, if you would introduce your team and please

         20  proceed with your testimony.

         21                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Certainly.

         22                 Good afternoon, Chairman Fisher,

         23  Chairwoman Robinson, and the Honorable Members of

         24  the Youth Committee. I am Tino Hernandez,

         25  Commissioner of the New York City Department of
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          2  Juvenile Justice.

          3                 Before I do that, let me introduce

          4  the people at the table with me.  On my right is

          5  Doug Appel, who is Deputy Commissioner of

          6  Administration for the Department. On my far left is

          7  Christian Monje, who is the Assistant Commissioner

          8  for Detention Operations for the Department, and I

          9  just wanted to make an announcement that while you

         10  will be receiving something shortly in writing about

         11  this, but after an exemplary career of spanning 27

         12  years, Alfred Reno, who was the Deputy Commissioner

         13  of Operations decided to retire, and effective

         14  yesterday I have appointed Cleo Glass who is on my

         15  left, as the Acting Deputy Commissioner of

         16  Operations.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: You have both our

         18  congratulations and our sympathies.

         19                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I would add

         20  that Cleo Glass has extensive experience in not only

         21  custody but also care. He has worked his way up

         22  through the ranks in the Department, really from

         23  Juvenile Counsel, all the way up to the position,

         24  former position, which was the Executive Director of

         25  the Crossroads Detention Center in Brooklyn.
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          2                 I am aware that the focus of this

          3  hearing is not secure detention. As you may know,

          4  the City is currently in litigation on issues

          5  pertaining to NSD. Therefore, as you can understand,

          6  I will not be able to respond to some of the

          7  questions that you may have.

          8                 However, I am prepared to provide you

          9  with an update on the agency's overall population

         10  trends and efforts around capacity, then I would be

         11  happy to address questions in this area.

         12                 As you know, New York City and the

         13  State detains fewer young people than other

         14  comparably sized jurisdictions nationwide. The

         15  Department of Juvenile Justice's population is

         16  comprising two groups, Juvenile Offenders known as

         17  JOs and Juvenile Delinquents known as JDs.

         18                 Juvenile Offenders are youth charged

         19  with one of 18 of the most serious crimes and are

         20  adjudicated in Supreme Court.

         21                 Juvenile delinquents are charged with

         22  lower offenses or are too young to be tried as

         23  adults for more serious crimes.

         24                 JD cases are processed in Family

         25  Court. Approximately 85 percent of DJJ secure
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          2  detention admissions and all of non-secure

          3  admissions are alleged juvenile delinquents.

          4                 Let me begin with a population trend

          5  update in NSD. Between Fiscal Year '98 and '99,

          6  admissions to non-secure detention increased 17

          7  percent, from 1,324 youth, to 1,543. The significant

          8  growth in NSD admissions is attributable to the

          9  number of available beds during the period, with

         10  increases from 91 to 115 beds.

         11                 The average length of stay in NSD

         12  rose from 22 to 23 days, representing a five percent

         13  increase. In fact, the length of stay of juvenile

         14  delinquents and NSD was 35 percent higher than that

         15  of juvenile delinquents contained in secure

         16  detention who on average stay for 17 days.

         17                 The increase in NSD admissions and

         18  length of stay resulted in a higher average daily

         19  population in Fiscal '99, which was 103 residents in

         20  NSD, compared to 90 residents during the previous

         21  year.

         22                 Thus far in Fiscal Year 2000, the

         23  average daily population NSD is 108 JDs. Over 54

         24  percent of the admissions into non-secure detention

         25  during Fiscal Year '99 were for felony level
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          2  charges, while 21 percent of NSD admissions were for

          3  misdemeanors. In fact, the most common charges of

          4  youth residing in non-secure detention were robbery,

          5  drug sales and possession and assault.

          6                 Similar to secure detention,

          7  approximately 40 percent of the NSD admissions end

          8  up being placed with the State Office of Children

          9  and Family Services.

         10                 Now I will bring you up-to-date on

         11  the population trends that we are seeing in secure

         12  detention. In Fiscal Year '99 there were 5,301

         13  admissions to secure detention, which is a two

         14  percent increase over last year's admission of 5,173

         15  youth. The increase in admissions was driven by an

         16  increase in a number of juvenile delinquents

         17  admitted to detention. Between Fiscal Year '908 and

         18  '99, JD's admissions rose by five percent, from

         19  4,352 to 4,591. Whereas the admission numbers of

         20  juvenile offenders decreased by 14 percent, from 804

         21  to 689. The average length of stay in secure

         22  detention for Fiscal '99 rose by one day, which is a

         23  five percent change from 22 to 23 days.

         24                 This increase was also caused by

         25  juvenile delinquents who on average stayed one day
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          2  longer in detention.

          3                 The small changes in admissions and

          4  length of stay have a disproportionate impact on our

          5  average daily population. In Fiscal Year '99, the

          6  average daily population in secure detention was

          7  eight percent higher than in Fiscal Year '98. 345

          8  residents were in secure detention on an average day

          9  compared to 318 residents the previous year.

         10                 The rising trend in secure detentions

         11  average daily population appears to be continuing in

         12  Fiscal Year 2000. During the first two months the

         13  average daily population of 370, which is eight

         14  percent higher than the same period last year. In

         15  Fiscal Year '99, over 62 percent of the admissions

         16  in secure detention were for felony offenses and 15

         17  percent were for misdemeanors.

         18                 Similar to non-secure, the most

         19  common charges at admissions were robbery, drug

         20  sales and possession and assault.

         21                 A total of 40 percent of the youth

         22  admitted to secure detention were placed with the

         23  office of children and family services.

         24                 As you know, since my appointment as

         25  Commissioner last year, one of my ongoing priorities
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          2  has been to develop sufficient detention capacity

          3  and flexibility to manage the population

          4  fluctuation.

          5                 The Department has made great strides

          6  in opening additional non-secure detention beds.

          7  When I arrived at DJJ, the capacity in NSD was 75

          8  beds. As I have mentioned in previous hearings,

          9  there was a temporary reduction in the number of

         10  beds due to allegations of fiscal improprieties to

         11  vendors that resulted in their contracts not being

         12  renewed.

         13                 One of my first decisions as

         14  Commissioner was to immediately move to replace

         15  these two NSD facilities, and to also open an

         16  additional one.

         17                 Today the Department operates 150 NSD

         18  beds.

         19                 As the agency continues to monitor

         20  population trends, we decided to open four

         21  additional NSD facilities, which will increase

         22  capacity to an all-time high of 152 beds. Three of

         23  these homes are expected to open in the coming

         24  weeks. St. Christopher-Ottilie is contracted to

         25  operate two of the facilities in Queens, and Leake
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          2  and Watts will run a third facility in the Bronx. By

          3  the end of the year, Boys Town will open a fourth

          4  NSD facility in Brooklyn.

          5                 DJJ is currently operating three

          6  secure detention facilities with a combined

          7  certified capacity of 358 beds. One of the

          8  facilities is the Vernon C. Bain Center, which as

          9  you know we are temporarily leasing from the

         10  Department of Correction. It serves as an intake

         11  center and has a 100-bed capacity.

         12                 As you know from your last tour, DJJ

         13  also opened two state-of-the-art detention

         14  facilities in 1998. The Horizon Juvenile Center and

         15  the Crossroads Juvenile Center. Each of these

         16  facilities have a capacity of 129 beds and offer an

         17  array of services including a Board of

         18  Education-operated school, medical services, mental

         19  health services, recreation and case management

         20  services.

         21                 Last November, I first announced

         22  before this Committee that the City was planning to

         23  renovate a portion of the Spofford building so that

         24  it could be used again as a juvenile detention

         25  center by DJJ. Thanks to the hard work of the DJJ
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          2  staff and the Department of Design and Construction,

          3  I am pleased to report that this project is on

          4  schedule and within budget.

          5                 The Department plans to vacate the

          6  Vernon C. Bain and move back to the Spofford

          7  building by the end of the year. As you remember,

          8  our plan is to use three wings of the building to

          9  house up to 150 youth, which will bring the overall

         10  capacity in secure detention to 408 beds.

         11                 Similar to the VCBC, the renovated

         12  space at Spofford will be used as DJJ's intake

         13  facility.

         14                 Let me conclude my remarks here, and

         15  I would be happy to take questions from the

         16  Committee.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you,

         18  Commissioner. I am going to hold my own questions

         19  for the end, for clean up.

         20                 Let me turn first to the Chair of the

         21  Subcommittee, Council Member Robinson.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Thank you very

         23  much, Commissioner, for your response to today's

         24  hearing.

         25                 It is indicated here that you plan to
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          2  be out of the Vernon C. Bain barge by the end of the

          3  year; what is the projected date for that?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL:

          5  Councilwoman, we are currently completing the

          6  renovations of Spofford and we expect that will be

          7  done probably some time, anywhere from mid-November

          8  to mid-December. Final work, in terms of

          9  construction, always is difficult to predict. As you

         10  probably know from a lot of projects, there are

         11  always minor things that need to get done at the

         12  end.

         13                 We are also beginning to hire staff.

         14  As you remember from the budget we are hiring an

         15  additional 83 staff, mostly to do support functions

         16  that now are done by Corrections, the VCBC, we are

         17  hiring cooks, institutional aids and maintenance

         18  workers, a whole panoply of sort of support staff,

         19  as well as additional direct care staff. That is

         20  ongoing now, we expect to be bringing staff on in

         21  the phased fashion starting in November through

         22  December so that by the end of the year the

         23  construction will be done, staff will be in place

         24  and we would expect to move the kids at that point

         25  out of the VCBC and into Spofford.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Okay, thank

          3  you.

          4                 Let me ask you this question -- yes?

          5                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I would add

          6  also that part of the phased plan is that we need to

          7  have Spofford empty for a couple of weeks so that we

          8  can retrain staff on the use of the building itself.

          9  An important element being that the configuration is

         10  completely different from that of Vernon C. Bain.

         11                 I would also offer an opportunity to

         12  the Council members to visit the renovated Spofford

         13  prior to us transporting kids there, or relocating

         14  kids there.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Of course,

         16  certainly we would like to see that. And we will be

         17  in touch with the office to set up a review of the

         18  new facilities.

         19                 Let me ask you this question: You say

         20  that Spofford needs to be empty -- well, it is

         21  already empty, the other parts of the building are

         22  empty. In regards to the barge, you indicate that --

         23  no, let me ask you this question. The group homes,

         24  was there an RFP for the group homes?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: Let me
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          2  address that, Councilwoman.

          3                 You also remember from last year's

          4  budget or this year's budget when it came out in

          5  April, the Mayor's Executive Budget included funding

          6  for three new, 36 beds of additional group homes. We

          7  quickly and swiftly moved to put out a negotiate

          8  acquisition, which is essentially a short form RFP,

          9  much simpler, much more expeditious, we put that out

         10  around the time the budget came out, which was, as

         11  you remember, toward the end of April. We based upon

         12  submissions made by various community-based

         13  organizations, selected three contractors, which we

         14  speak about in this testimony. We expect to bring

         15  the first three of those facilities on line in the

         16  coming weeks, and then the fourth will be on by the

         17  end of the calendar year. So, that within a period

         18  of approximately six to nine months, we will have

         19  opened four new facilities.

         20                 As you know, opening group homes in

         21  the City, opening non-secure detention facilities is

         22  a difficult process. It involves finding sites,

         23  finding a community-based organization provide the

         24  service, finding communities that are willing to

         25  accept these facilities, working with them to come
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          2  up with a community structure that both allows us to

          3  provide non-secure detention and also provide for

          4  community input, and all that we have done over the

          5  past period, so I think we are doing pretty well

          6  with opening these.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Okay.

          8                 One final question, in regards to

          9  incidents that have taken place in other places, and

         10  I know that you don't have direct jurisdiction over

         11  the facilities that are run by Agency for Children's

         12  Services, but in terms of the kinds of incidents

         13  that have taken place in other facilities, have you

         14  done anything different in terms of safety and

         15  security in your own facilities? Group homes I am

         16  talking about specifically, have you directed them

         17  to do anything differently?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Councilwoman,

         19  I am not very clear on your question.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBINSON: You are not

         21  clear. What I am saying is this: We have had

         22  incidents in other group homes, group homes where

         23  our children are in custody, and I want to know,

         24  since we have children in custody as well, have you

         25  taken any other precautions or directed those
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          2  providers to do anything different in their group

          3  homes? That is the question that I am asking? Do

          4  they have the level of staffing appropriate to meet

          5  the needs in terms of the supervision for the young

          6  people in custody? That is my question.

          7                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Well, as you

          8  know, we operate the three secure detention

          9  facilities as well, I would probably answer the

         10  question from a broader point of view, and then we

         11  have non-secure detention facilities, some that we

         12  directly operate, others that we contract out.

         13                 Clearly, any group that is operating

         14  a facility for us, if they are a community-based

         15  organization, go through a thorough understanding of

         16  what are the policies and procedures of the

         17  Department. They are trained on specific issues

         18  having to do with child care, and we have great

         19  expectations that the quality of care that has to be

         20  delivered has to be that, has to be one of quality.

         21                 In addition, we monitor the both

         22  secure and non-secure detention facilities pretty

         23  closely. We also have on the non-secure detention

         24  side, we beefed up our infrastructure in the

         25  internal office so that we could do more on-site
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          2  visits. And we are in the process now of piloting a

          3  monitoring instrument that would also be utilized to

          4  check on the quality and the efficiency of the

          5  services being delivered in non-secure detention.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: All right,

          7  thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Council Member

          9  Clarke.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 Let me just follow up on a question

         13  that my colleague, Council Member Robinson, is

         14  probably getting at.

         15                 You have direct services that you

         16  supervises yourself and there are community-based

         17  organizations with whom you contract, can you tell

         18  us what performance criteria is developed so that if

         19  I walked into one of your facilities, I should see

         20  no difference than if I went to a community-based

         21  organization with whom you contract, is there a

         22  criteria for performance in terms of the

         23  community-based organization? And if so, what it is.

         24  How do you know if and when they violate their

         25  contractual agreement with you? Is it when some
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          2  youngster complains, some family member complains,

          3  what it is, you know, you are doing it on one side

          4  and you know, you contract out on the other side? In

          5  my mind there should be no difference if I were to

          6  walk into a facility where the young people are

          7  placed; can you tell us what the performance

          8  criteria is?

          9                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Yes, again,

         10  we have a set of policies and procedures that we

         11  have that create expectations for the delivery of

         12  services.

         13                 Obviously the mission of both secure

         14  and non-secure detention is that we protect public

         15  safety and that we provide custody and care for

         16  young people that must be detained.

         17                 We conduct very stringent background

         18  checks on all staff that are hired by facilities, so

         19  that there has to be a background check done. And in

         20  addition to that, we look at qualifications.

         21                 We make a decision with the

         22  community-based organizations that we select the

         23  Executive Director or the Director of any home. We

         24  tend to be very particular about the groups that we

         25  select. It is a competitive process, however in our
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          2  criteria to make selections we look for

          3  organizations that have familiarity with a juvenile

          4  justice population, that have familiarity in the

          5  delivering -- that have expertise, rather, in the

          6  delivery of child care services.

          7                 If you look at some of the agencies

          8  that we have selected in this round, Boys Town,

          9  which is a premiere agency, is known nationwide for

         10  its delivery of care, Leake and Watts, which has

         11  expertise in delivering child care services, as well

         12  as St. Christoper-Ottilie. We tend to look for

         13  organizations that have a track record and expertise

         14  and a great deal of credibility to the delivery of

         15  those services.

         16                 In addition to that, one of the

         17  things that I instituted as Commissioner was to

         18  develop an infrastructure for central office, so

         19  that we hired staff, we have currently now two staff

         20  members, their sole job to be able to do on-site

         21  visits, we're piloting an instrument, we are looking

         22  at the quality of care, there are very clear

         23  expectations on any incident that occurred in the

         24  facility that they report it to centralized movement

         25  and control unit that we have and we are very
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          2  diligent about overseeing both the delivery of

          3  services and the conduct of staff, and the

          4  professionalism of staff.

          5                 In addition to that there is an

          6  expectation of service deliverables. They have to --

          7  there are operational deliverables and service

          8  deliverables that they have a contractual obligation

          9  to provide. From an operational standpoint they have

         10  to ensure that young people in non-secure detention

         11  remain in the home, that they are transported to

         12  court when they have to make court appearances. We

         13  centrally provide health and mental health services,

         14  so if there are those kind of issues we will provide

         15  that with our own staff. They are responsible for

         16  taking them to appointments, their follow-up

         17  appointments, that is a deliverable. During the time

         18  they are in non-secure detention they also have to

         19  avail themselves of school. We operate, or we have

         20  the Board of Education that operates a centralized

         21  school for NSD, and the other services, like

         22  recreation and case management services that are

         23  delivered.

         24                 I will ask Doug to talk about some

         25  other accountability measures that we have included
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          2  in the contracts for the NSDs.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: I think

          4  you talked about most of them actually, but one of

          5  the ways we do this now is we are currently amending

          6  all of our contracts with all of our non-secure

          7  detention providers.

          8                 As many agencies in the City were

          9  going to sort of performance-based contracting

         10  systems, which means they are specifically required

         11  to do certain things, like the Commissioner said,

         12  deliver kids to school on a timely basis, deliver

         13  kids to court, pick up kids from court, ensure that

         14  they get certain case management services, ensure

         15  that staffing levels are maintained, and when they

         16  do not do those things, there is actually provisions

         17  in the contract that allow us to claim liquidated

         18  damages, as we call it. So that they are sort of

         19  penalized for poor performance. It is an important

         20  monitoring tool and it allows us to, when

         21  contractors aren't performing, to be able to have a

         22  sanction to be able to get the service we expect.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: Human Services

         24  end up being one of the biggest business in our

         25  City. Whether we look at Foster Care, Juvenile
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          2  Justice, Homelessness, day care, because I come from

          3  day care and I remember community-based

          4  organizations, if a child was released or a child

          5  went off to school I would get pressure next day to

          6  send somebody else because the body is important to

          7  the budget, and so I just want to ask you as

          8  delicately as I can, and as respectfully as I can,

          9  when young people are released either home or

         10  whatever else, how do you know when an agency has

         11  sent a young person home and then have a vacancy in

         12  that home, how are they filled? I want to look at

         13  what your mechanism is because I am looking at your

         14  eight percent rise in population and I know that

         15  eight percent rise in population is an eight percent

         16  rise in somebody's budget.

         17                 I am being very nice and delicate.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: You are,

         19  Councilwoman, and I appreciate that. But let me,

         20  because I think the underlying question was, are

         21  contractors paid on a per-diem or a per-kid basis.

         22  The answer is no. Unlike many other human service

         23  providers, we have a fixed contract.

         24                 The reason we do that is because we

         25  are required by OCFS regulations to maintain
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          2  specific staffing levels in the facility. So, in

          3  fact, if there was one kid or 12 kids in a

          4  non-secure detention facility, the cost structure

          5  would be virtually the same.

          6                 Therefore, and remember the decision

          7  for whether kids leave the system or not are not

          8  ours and are not the contractors, they are judges'

          9  decisions. Judges decide when kids come in and when

         10  kids leave. So, what happens is if a judge decides

         11  to release a kid, at the end of every day, each

         12  contractor is responsible to calling in to our

         13  Central Communications Unit reporting name by name

         14  on the daily census and then saying that some

         15  resident was released, this is why they were

         16  released, the paperwork indicated they were

         17  released. We obviously have copies of all of that

         18  because we keep track in the court house because it

         19  is our responsibility to assure that even though the

         20  contractor is providing the service, we are still

         21  the custodial agent, we are still responsible of the

         22  custody of that youth. So, we have information every

         23  day about youth that are released and then we would

         24  then determine whether we had another youth who

         25  could be placed in that bed on that given day.
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          2                 But the amount of money the

          3  contractors get is not predicated upon that fact.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: My final

          5  question is my pet question that you get every time

          6  you come before us, Health and Mental Health. Since

          7  I am Chair of Mental Health and I recognize that

          8  many young persons who come in come not because they

          9  want to be criminals but they did a criminal act as

         10  a result of an illness. Can you tell me with whom

         11  you have your mental health contract, and then as a

         12  follow-up, since when you were last here for Fiscal

         13  Year, you mentioned mental health and I made the

         14  proposition that the City Department of Mental

         15  Health should probably be the reservoir through

         16  which mental health services get contracted out,

         17  since they have the mechanism for supervision above

         18  what you have, and because this year's budget this

         19  City Council was very liberal at my urging to put

         20  some money in for young people, and I understand

         21  that you want to have a dib at it, so I want to know

         22  where your money is before you get a dib at my

         23  money.

         24                 And is the money transferred to the

         25  Department of Mental Health?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: We appreciate

          3  your commitment to mental health issues, as always,

          4  Councilwoman.

          5                 I did indicate in previous testimony

          6  that we have undergone a review of all of the array

          7  of services that are being delivered within secure

          8  and unsecure detention. Obviously that planning

          9  resulted in the Board of Education taking over the

         10  school, which we think has improved the quality of

         11  education. We were also looking in mental health,

         12  health services, recreation services.

         13                 With respect to health, what we

         14  needed to do initially was to expand the health

         15  contracts because we moved to multiple locations,

         16  and we have done that.

         17                 Then we are looking at two models,

         18  which I think were the models that you were

         19  referring to.  One model was to integrate within the

         20  detention setting a health promotion and disease

         21  prevention program, which we still intend to do,

         22  however this is predicated on federal funds that are

         23  administered by the state and we are in the process

         24  of working within the parameters of the set up for

         25  the state on how to utilize that money.
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          2                 There were really two pockets of

          3  money, I believe the total dollar amount, Doug, was

          4  $400,000?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL:

          6  Two-hundred for the health promotion.

          7                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Yes, 200 for

          8  the health promotion and then we had, we are working

          9  on the proposal for another 200,000 that we want to

         10  use for what I would call not necessarily a mental

         11  health program. I guess a better characterization

         12  would be a mental wellness program.

         13                 So, the intent or the philosophical

         14  underpinning on this one was not to have a program

         15  that addressed the needs of young people that were

         16  severely mentally ill, but to begin to target young

         17  people that may had experienced some trauma or

         18  victimization as a way of being able to engage them

         19  while they were in detention and to assess what

         20  their needs might be and then maybe provide them

         21  with mental health services as they were released,

         22  or at least to notify OCSF that they had some issues

         23  that needed to be addressed if they were turned over

         24  to the state custody.

         25                 I am aware that Youth championed some
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          2  additional money for mental health to work with

          3  Juvenile Justice. We have been in discussions with

          4  the Department of Mental Health regarding a way of

          5  being able to structure a model which is slightly

          6  different which was to really target young people

          7  within the system that do have mental health

          8  problems and to case manage them and to work out a

          9  discharge plan that reintegrates them back into the

         10  community availing themselves of mental health

         11  services.

         12                 So, we have been in discussions with

         13  the Department of Mental Health in that regard.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER CLARKE: I still want

         15  your money, and whether it is depression, whether it

         16  is depression or whether it is serious emotional

         17  disturbance, mental health and mental illness have

         18  many phases and many faces and so you can't say I am

         19  doing my money for wellness, there ain't no wellness

         20  if you are depressed, you are mentally ill. And

         21  don't keep the money over there, it is going to go

         22  into the Department of Mental Health so it is one

         23  pot so that we can follow the young person through,

         24  and I just wanted to put that on record because I am

         25  going to ask the chair to work with me and to work

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            31

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  with the Department of Mental Health, as well as

          3  with the Chair of Health, and strictly the chair of

          4  the Subcommittee so that we make sure the case

          5  management is done and that when the young person

          6  leaves they are not just, you know, some place but

          7  we know where they are and the kind of help and

          8  support they are receiving.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I feel like I

         11  have to respond, Councilwoman. It is my intention to

         12  try obviously, and there is a commitment I made to

         13  try to maximize resources to be able to provide

         14  added services. I would be perfectly willing to meet

         15  with you and to work out how all of this money will

         16  be put together so that we can provide services to

         17  young people and that your priorities are certainly

         18  carried out.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: We have been

         20  joined by, I just wanted to note it for the record,

         21  by Council Member Perkins and Council Member Quinn.

         22                 Council Member Espada.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you.

         24                 Thanks so much, Commissioner

         25  Hernandez, for your testimony.
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          2                 I apologize because I realize we are

          3  here mainly on a non-secure basis, however, I wanted

          4  to make a comment and get some answers I had on the

          5  secure detention.

          6                 I am glad to hear the construction is

          7  well underway and looking like it is going

          8  appropriately, and I can attest to the Committee

          9  that for the first time in Lord knows how long the

         10  parking lot at Spofford looks like a parking lot

         11  that is used for legitimate purposes and not where

         12  cars are dumped and where cars are stripped as they

         13  once were used for in the Hunts Point area.

         14                 However, now that we are moving

         15  forward there, and we are going to get our young

         16  folks out of Vernon C. Bain, when can we look

         17  forward to not utilizing Spofford any longer and

         18  getting the permanent construction in the Horizon

         19  and the Crossroads facilities, what is the timetable

         20  for that? Has some of that already gone on?

         21                 I understand from the last time you

         22  came and testified before us that there was a

         23  process in which you had to apply for approval to

         24  the state or something of that nature, where are we

         25  at in that whole thing and what does that look like?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I guess one

          3  of the things that I wanted to do is to thank you

          4  and certainly the electeds in the area, because I

          5  know I met with you and I know this was a very

          6  difficult decision around the relocation back to

          7  Spofford, and at the end of the day the Department's

          8  preference is to utilize Spofford.

          9                 In my mind, the notion of how long we

         10  are in Spofford is really tied to the feasibility

         11  study that is being conducted at the two facilities.

         12  As an aside, I also just wanted to mention that

         13  because of the concerns that the community had, we

         14  were able to leverage some additional money for the

         15  Youth Community Center, which I understand is moving

         16  in a timely manner with the design phase and the

         17  construction will start and they are anticipating

         18  that some time next year they will have the youth,

         19  the community center built.

         20                 So, the question is a very

         21  complicated one, and I am going to ask Doug to

         22  describe for you where we are with the state and

         23  where DDC is in the process of conducting the

         24  feasibility study in the two facilities.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL:
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          2  Councilman, as you remember, I think the last time

          3  you were here we did talk about this issue. We have

          4  now completed sort of a very preliminary feasibility

          5  study which looked at strictly the fact that could

          6  you build an expansion to our current Crossroads and

          7  Horizon facilities.

          8                 We have talked to the state about

          9  that. They, as us, have some concerns about that

         10  expansion. Any time you expand any facility,

         11  hospital, school, let alone a detention facility, it

         12  is complicated. You have both sort of structural

         13  issues of how you connect two buildings together, as

         14  well as operational issues of how to operate that

         15  newly expanded facility.

         16                 The state, like us, are comfortable

         17  moving to the next stage of the process, which then

         18  now to try to put a little bit more, I will call it

         19  meat on the bone, which is engaging an architect to

         20  start to do some preliminary design. Again, very

         21  much typical in a process like this should really go

         22  step by step and look where you are at each phase.

         23  We will be engaging in the coming months a designer

         24  who will start to do that next phase of design. The

         25  state has already expressed interest in working with
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          2  us, being part of that process, which we are very

          3  comfortable with doing so. I would hope, I am not

          4  sure the next time we will be back, but if it is

          5  some time next year, we will be able, and I am sure

          6  we will be, we will be able to give you an update

          7  then from a more specific design perspective.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: But do we have

          9  a timetable when we see the actual feasibility

         10  happening -- study happening? And maybe some numbers

         11  coming into play so that we can know what we are

         12  dealing with, and is there a way that the Committee

         13  can be kept abreast of that so that we don't have

         14  to, if it comes before us, the next time you see us,

         15  that we can be made aware of it and be on board with

         16  this issue?

         17                 Because although the Hunts Point

         18  community tremendously appreciates the efforts to

         19  add a youth facility to the community, the promise

         20  that was made to that community was to be without

         21  Spofford, and that will not be fulfilled until

         22  Spofford is no longer there, and we appreciate

         23  tremendously the youth center and we have been

         24  working with Deputy Mayor Segarra on that, in making

         25  sure that that moves forward as expediently and
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          2  without interrupting all of the other procedures and

          3  things that go on at that ball field, but the

          4  commitment is still a commitment and we really want

          5  to see that through because now we are a single

          6  community that is burdened with double the burden

          7  and having to house two of these facilities in our

          8  community.

          9                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I would

         10  indicate that, as you know, the short-term plan was

         11  to move into Spofford. Actually I would say that DDC

         12  and the Department have really worked diligently on

         13  this, that maybe having slippage by a month or a few

         14  weeks is, in my estimation, and then within budget

         15  is something that is extraordinary, so I am glad for

         16  that.

         17                 We had talked about conducted this

         18  feasibility study for the two facilities and as Doug

         19  has indicated, there is tremendous complexities. The

         20  complexities have to do, and I would remind you that

         21  we are looking at building or expanding the facility

         22  within the footprints, it doesn't involve adding any

         23  buildings outside the footprint of the facility. We

         24  are probably looking at maybe six to nine months

         25  before we have a firm decision on the feasibility,
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          2  and then from there we would have to project out how

          3  long this construction phase would take, which you

          4  have to appreciate that part of making those

          5  determinations is factors such as how do you operate

          6  a facility at the time that you are doing

          7  construction. As Doug has indicated, it has been

          8  done, it has been done certainly with schools and

          9  adult correctional facilities, but it is a very

         10  complex process. I think maybe in nine months we

         11  will be in a better position to say is it feasible,

         12  is it not feasible, and then to at least be able to

         13  protect our cost and what kind of time frame the

         14  actual construction would take.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: I also just

         16  want to mention though, the fact that we are doing

         17  all of that work at Hunts Point should leave a lot

         18  of my colleagues, I, myself, wasn't here, but a lot

         19  of my colleagues to be able to be tooting their horn

         20  over the fact that they have been saying that that

         21  facility needed that work for a very, very, very

         22  long time, since I could have been a member of one

         23  of those youth detention facilities, they were

         24  saying that needed that kind of work, it was very

         25  antiquated and was in desperate need of that repair.
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          2  So, while we mention that it is being repaired, we

          3  should mention this Committee under Victor Robles

          4  and the City Council had advocated for that work for

          5  a very, very, very long time.

          6                 However, though, in addition to that,

          7  I had asked last time and I still hadn't gotten a

          8  response, the outside of the Bronx facility has lots

          9  all around it on the, I think it is Brook Avenue

         10  side and I was wondering what is going on with that.

         11  I believe last time you said you thought it was

         12  being used by the school for parking or something

         13  like that, but what is going to go on with that, and

         14  what is built in for the future with that, if

         15  anything?

         16                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I am not

         17  familiar with that. Can you hold on a second?

         18                 I am going to have to look into it,

         19  Councilman. I am not sure the purpose of -- is it a

         20  vacant lot, period?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Yes. I mean,

         22  as you are aware there have been construction of

         23  fastfood establishments on the corner --

         24                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: That's a

         25  Burger King on the corner.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: And then right

          3  next to that you have the autoparts store. Then

          4  right next to that, I believe that is vacant,

          5  although I can't be certain, but behind that, as

          6  well as all vacant property that is currently being

          7  parked on or something of that nature, I mean we

          8  could talk about it more but the work that is being

          9  done there was doing wonders to kind of hide the

         10  facade of what exists there and if that could

         11  continue being done, especially because of the fact

         12  that we have so many schools in the area and things

         13  of that nature, and we can kind of try our hardest

         14  to hide this thing since we are stuck with it.

         15                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I will look

         16  into it. I am not sure who owns the lot or if there

         17  is any plan for the lot, but I will look into it and

         18  I will call you and get back to you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ESPADA: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Commissioner,

         21  maybe you could just clarify something for me,

         22  because I am concerned that the step by step

         23  approach as it was described doesn't slide us down a

         24  slippery slope.

         25                 We are talking about expanding the
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          2  two new facilities, the Brooklyn and Bronx

          3  facilities. Is that to add capacity or with a view

          4  that we are going to close Spofford again at some

          5  point?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: The intent of

          7  the expansion, I will reiterate that when I came in

          8  within the plan on how to deal with capacity on the

          9  secure detention side, I was aware that there had

         10  been a commitment made three Administration's ago to

         11  close Spofford. After a thorough review of Spofford,

         12  you know, we are talking a span of over ten years, I

         13  made a determination that we needed to have added

         14  capacity and went into Vernon C. Bain on a temporary

         15  basis, a commitment that I believe that we're pretty

         16  much honoring, we kept it to the 100 beds, we kept

         17  it to the length of stay that we had made a

         18  commitment to do. We utilized it, we are about ready

         19  to close it and return to Spofford.

         20                 I indicated then that that was just a

         21  short term solution for the capacity problem and

         22  that I had asked the Department of Design and

         23  Construction to examine the feasibility of expanding

         24  the two facilities with an overall intent of leaving

         25  Spofford at some time in the future when the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            41

          1  YOUTH SERVICES AND JUVENILE JUSTICE

          2  construction was done.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: The two new

          4  facilities, plus the new Spofford would give you a

          5  capacity of about, I guess about ten percent more

          6  than your current population, if I did the math

          7  correctly. Do we anticipate needing more than 408

          8  beds in say the decade to come? Are we looking at

          9  adding secure detention beds?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: I will try

         11  my projection spiel, Councilman. To look ten years

         12  in the future in any system is incredibly difficult,

         13  as you know, but especially in a system as small as

         14  our system is.

         15                 As the Commissioner talked about in

         16  his testimony, when you think about it, and I

         17  understand the issues around the population, but as

         18  a percentage of the population in this City, we are

         19  one of the lower cities in terms of detention. So,

         20  given the fact it is so small, it makes it even more

         21  difficult to do a ten-year project, even a five-year

         22  projection, so I am not going to -- I can't do that.

         23  What I can say is that we obviously are back in

         24  Spofford because we believe that will give us

         25  sufficient capacity to meet our current and
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          2  short-term needs, and then we are going to continue

          3  to look at expansion and all of our options and

          4  ensure that over a long period we have sufficient

          5  capacity, including growth of non-secure detention.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Well, I was going

          7  to get to that in a second, but is 150 beds at the

          8  new Spofford, when you talk about the feasibility

          9  studies, are you talking about adding more than 150

         10  beds?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: Not at

         12  Spofford.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: No, no, not at

         14  Spofford. At the other two facilities.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: The

         16  feasibility study I think as we talked about it

         17  looked at adding 100 beds at each site.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: So that would be

         19  an increase of 50 beds.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: Exactly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: At a time when

         22  you already have 38 beds extra capacity right now.

         23  So you would be doing 85 beds over your current

         24  population?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Let me
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          2  respond in this way, Chairman. Another way to look

          3  at it is that we have two secure detention

          4  facilities that as you know did not equal the

          5  capacity at Spofford. So, we automatically lost

          6  capacity had we moved forward with the decision to

          7  close Spofford all together.

          8                 In the short term, I would also add

          9  that in each facility we do have a variance, the

         10  capacity of 129 of each, we have the ability to go

         11  up by 20 beds when we hit peak populations.

         12                 From an operational point of view, it

         13  puts a tremendous strain on the agency. Although we

         14  can do it, it certainly does put a strain on both

         15  agencies, on both facilities rather.

         16                 Our thinking with Spofford was to add

         17  capacity to be able to deal with our peak, and in

         18  those instances, like we do in non-secure detention

         19  where we don't have young people being placed in

         20  secure detention, we have contributed in a way that

         21  we could maybe close a dorm. But I would rather be

         22  in the position to be proactive around being able to

         23  deal with population peaks than to be reactive where

         24  I am having then to put young people in the two

         25  facilities creating a strain for the staff.
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          2                 I would also remind you that when we

          3  are looking at protected capacity with the expansion

          4  of the two facilities, that we are probably talking

          5  way in the out-years. That is not -- you know, we

          6  are going into Spofford by the end of the year, we

          7  will have the added 50 beds, but the projection for

          8  the two expansions, which may or may not happen, I

          9  mean at the end of the feasibility study the

         10  architect, the experts may say you can't do 100

         11  here, you are going to have to do 50, you are going

         12  to have to do 60, so we don't know what that number

         13  is as of yet.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Are you

         15  planning a similar expansion of non-secure

         16  detention?

         17                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: I have made a

         18  commitment that I will reiterate that we will

         19  continue to -- as you know, we opened the three, we

         20  replaced the two, added a third, we have four that

         21  are opening up, we continue to monitor the trends in

         22  non-secure detention, we will continue to look at

         23  that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FISHER: Can you tell

         25  me one clarification and then I had a couple of
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          2  questions.

          3                 As I did the arithmetic from your

          4  statement, we have felonies and misdemeanors

          5  together account for about three-quarters of both

          6  the NSD and the secure detention, that is the other

          7  quarter?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: We

          9  essentially categorize the youth in terms of their

         10  charge as they come into the system. Ultimately

         11  everybody is adjudicated in court and the

         12  disposition may have nothing to do with the charge,

         13  so that is sort of where we start.

         14                 We also have youth that come into the

         15  system in a variety of other different ways, some

         16  come in who have open warrants, so they have another

         17  Family Court or criminal case pending, they get

         18  brought in by a police officer to us to be held

         19  until they go back to court, at which point the

         20  warrant gets cleared and a charge comes up, but we

         21  see them as a warrant. We also hold youth that are

         22  OCFS, essentially jurisdiction, youth that have

         23  either violated the terms of their parole from OCFS

         24  or who are AWOL from OCFS facilities, and, finally,

         25  the other big category would be violations of terms
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          2  of probation. Those all add up to about the other

          3  quarter.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Why is the length

          5  of stay in non-secure detention higher than the

          6  length of stay in secure detention?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: It really

          8  is a difficult question. I think all we have are

          9  sort of, you know, our collective experience and

         10  history about what causes that, but it certainly is

         11  that it tends to be cases that tend to take longer

         12  to complete with more appearances.

         13                 Many times it is because I think in

         14  the system, the various actors, the judge, the

         15  prosecutor, the defense are comfortable that a youth

         16  is in a non-secure detention facility, so therefore

         17  the case takes longer to complete.

         18                 The outcome of the case, as you see

         19  from testimony is that they typically have very

         20  similar outcomes in terms of the youth that are

         21  placed with us at OCFS.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Finally, my

         23  questions, and then I think Council Member Robinson

         24  had a follow-up question.

         25                 To what do you attribute the fact
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          2  that the juvenile delinquent admissions have

          3  increased while juvenile offender admissions have

          4  decreased?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: Very hard

          6  again to tell, the difference between the JDs and

          7  the JOs are essentially age and charge, so in part

          8  JDs could be they commit felony offenses, so you

          9  might get more committed, some of those more serious

         10  offenses. On the other hand, we are not seeing the

         11  change in the age. The kids that come in are about

         12  the same age as they always were.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: So?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: There is

         15  no simple answer. I wish I could give you a more --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Is there any type

         17  of, and not necessarily within DJJ exclusively, but

         18  is there any type of effort with the Police

         19  Department or the Criminal Justice Coordinator's

         20  office that sort of understand what drives these

         21  numbers?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: Yes. We

         23  spend a tremendous amount of time. There is an

         24  interagency group that is sort of chaired by the

         25  Coordinator's Office that meets regularly, includes
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          2  members from the Probation Department, Corporation

          3  Counsel, the Police, when it sort of makes sense the

          4  police would be at the table, we even talk to the

          5  court system and we try to look at these issues,

          6  because just as in the adult system it is equally

          7  complex, and sometimes more complex when you look at

          8  the Family Court system.

          9                 So, we are concerned about those

         10  issues and we have been meeting to try to come up

         11  with some specific strategies.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Lastly, could you

         13  just elaborate a little bit on the open remand

         14  situation. I understand you will be in litigation

         15  and there are maybe some areas you don't want to go

         16  into, but just could you just generally describe for

         17  us how the open remands are responded to by the

         18  Department?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: Let me

         20  sort of start. When a youth is admitted to

         21  detention, the agency uses an administrative

         22  screening instrument. That instrument is done for

         23  any youth coming into the system. Youth come into

         24  the system really for a judge's remand, and the

         25  remand can be one of three different ways. Judges
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          2  can specifically remand a youth to secure, which

          3  required to hold him in secure, they can

          4  specifically require to non-secure detention, or

          5  they can remand with an open status. Open

          6  essentially gives the agency an administrative

          7  ability to then determine the appropriate level of

          8  detention.

          9                 We do a screening instrument

         10  initially to assess, the guideline to assess

         11  appropriateness for secure and non secure detention,

         12  and that becomes one of the factors we then use to

         13  make determinations about where to appropriately

         14  house the youth?

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Is that the sole

         16  criteria for determining the open remands, is the

         17  outcome of the assessment?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Let me

         19  preface my response by indicating that the screening

         20  instrument is an internal document that was

         21  developed by the Department as a way of being able

         22  to screen young people effectively for placement.

         23  Certainly having the discretion, my having the

         24  discretion to be able to make a determination helps

         25  us in being able to manage the system.
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          2                 The screening tool, I would say is a

          3  rather cursory screening tool, it does not take into

          4  account other factors. So, for instance, in addition

          5  to the screening tool, we can make a determination

          6  that the young person is eligible for non-secure

          7  detention, then we need to look at other factors -

          8  is there an existing health problem, is there an

          9  existing mental health problem, are there other

         10  psychosocial issues that we need to be concerned

         11  about.

         12                 In addition to that, it is important

         13  to also factor in the adjustment for the young

         14  person within the detention setting.

         15                 We do have sometimes situations where

         16  young people will act out and NSD will present the

         17  public safety problem for staff and for young

         18  people. So, we need to take those factors into

         19  consideration when we make a final determination.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Robinson.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Yes,

         23  Commissioner, what is your daily census today? Or

         24  what is your census today?

         25                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ:  I have to
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          2  put on my glasses for this one.

          3                 We have a total of 311 juveniles in

          4  secure detention, and 109 in non-secure detention.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: My question

          6  goes to, there are additional dollars put in the

          7  budget, last year's budget, for Reduced Children

          8  Violence Program and After Care Program. What is the

          9  status on both of those programs, and also the

         10  ombudsman being placed, as well, in your agency.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Okay, let me

         12  do the ombudsman and then I will turn it over to

         13  Doug, because community-based initiatives fall under

         14  Doug, and we have made great strides in that area.

         15                 We are currently going through a

         16  recruitment process. We started a recruitment

         17  process for the ombudsman positions, and identified

         18  candidates at which one has accepted the job,

         19  another candidate declined a job, had a better

         20  offer, and so now we are reposting and we are going

         21  to move to identify the other two candidates that we

         22  need.

         23                 In addition to that, I am going to be

         24  meeting with the ombudsman review board, because one

         25  of the things that I have uncovered internally that
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          2  we need to really clarify role and function of the

          3  ombudsman staff within detention and there is a dual

          4  reporting responsibility that we need to be clear

          5  about.

          6                 In addition to that, it is the first

          7  time that we are going to go from having one

          8  ombudsperson to three, so we need to be very clear

          9  on our role and function for staff.

         10                 We will look to move the recruitment

         11  process swiftly so that we can identify they are the

         12  two people, we have one that is lined up and ready

         13  to be hired in the process. And I will turn it over

         14  to Doug to talk about CBI because we do have some

         15  very interesting things that are going on in that

         16  area.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER APPEL: Yes, but

         18  let me actually first start by sort of publicly

         19  thanking you, Council Member Robinson, as well as

         20  Council Member Fisher, for providing those

         21  additional funds to us. It is a wonderful

         22  opportunity for us to expand our community-based

         23  programs, and in fact we have essentially used some

         24  of this funding as an opportunity for us to also go

         25  back and look at sort of our ongoing services.
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          2                 I think as we talked about

          3  previously, we are consolidating the programs which

          4  I think will really strengthen them considerably. We

          5  will have a prevention piece as well as an after

          6  care piece, but the model will be very similar. We

          7  are hiring a new person to oversee all of our

          8  community-based services, that takes advantage of

          9  the funding we got from the Council, as well as

         10  other federal funding we are receiving.

         11                 So, specifically to get to your

         12  question about where we are, as you know, we have

         13  talked about an opportunity here to provide more

         14  service in certain communities. We are anxious to do

         15  so, in fact we want to sort of finish that

         16  discussion with you. We have some specific proposals

         17  we would like to move forward very quickly. I think

         18  we have identified some contractors who could do

         19  this kind of community-based case management

         20  services and want to -- my goal would be to get this

         21  done as quickly as possible.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Thank you.

         23                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: If I may,

         24  Chairwoman, the other thing I don't want to lose

         25  sight of is that, particularly with our After Care
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          2  Program, a concern that we had was that we would

          3  have young people being released from secure

          4  detention or detention in general, and the After

          5  Care Program is a volunteer program, we have made a

          6  decision now to integrate CBI within detention so

          7  that they can begin recruitment and establish a

          8  rapport with young people and help them to transfer

          9  out into community-based services, so that is

         10  something new that we will be implementing as well.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you,

         13  Commissioner. We are going to ask you to leave one

         14  of your staff people behind to hear the balance of

         15  your testimony.

         16                 Thank you for your testimony today.

         17                 COMMISSIONER HERNANDEZ: Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Nancy Rosenbloom

         19  and Jennifer Baum.  Somehow I expect we are going to

         20  hear a different point of view.

         21                 Good afternoon. Thank you for joining

         22  us today, and you can proceed when ever you are

         23  ready.

         24                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Good afternoon. My

         25  name is Nancy Rosenbloom, I am an attorney with the
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          2  Juvenile Rights Division of The Legal Aid Society.

          3  This is Jennifer Baum, my colleague. We thank the

          4  Committee, and the Subcommittee, for focusing this

          5  hearing on the longstanding legal requirement that

          6  the City and State have enough non-secure detention

          7  space for children in New York who need such a

          8  setting.

          9                 There is a tone of sort of

         10  complacency when one hears from government agencies

         11  sometimes, and what we are hearing is, well, we have

         12  a long-term plan for this, we have a long-term plan

         13  for that, these things take a long time, but there

         14  is none of the urgency that one gets when one talks

         15  to kids who are stuck in secure detention who

         16  shouldn't be there. Not one child who should be in a

         17  group home should ever be in Spofford or on a prison

         18  barge or in one of the two new state-of-the-art

         19  beautiful secure facilities. That shouldn't happen,

         20  and what happened recently in the State Supreme

         21  Court was that a judge agreed, a judge agreed that

         22  the State Legislature, which long ago passed a state

         23  law requiring that there would be enough non-secure

         24  detention, now we have a court order as well which

         25  would require the city and the state to do some real
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          2  planning, not just to add a couple of facilities,

          3  not just to come to hearings when the heat is on and

          4  public pressure is on them but really to do

          5  anticipatory planning, to chart the trends and then

          6  do something with these trends, not to sit idly by

          7  and to react to crises.

          8                 Everybody knows that arrests are

          9  going down but remands are going up. Everybody knows

         10  that there are lots of alternative programs out

         11  there that are not being used in this City as there

         12  are in other localities. We hope that this hearing

         13  today and the recent court decision will help to

         14  spur the Department of Juvenile Justice and the City

         15  Administration to do what they should have been

         16  doing a long time ago and to plan adequately to

         17  provide the needed services to these children who

         18  are stuck in the wrong types of facilities.

         19                 As you know, Legal Aid in all five

         20  boroughs represents children in Family Court. Last

         21  year we represented more than 45,000 children,

         22  including approximately 4,000 delinquency cases. Our

         23  lawyers and our social workers and our paralegals

         24  have daily contact with the secure and non-secure

         25  facilities, as well as the highly effective
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          2  alternative programs.

          3                 We are glad that the Committee is

          4  being vigilant, following up on the questions. The

          5  last hearing I was at some of the same questions

          6  were asked, they have been asked again, we don't

          7  feel they necessarily have been answered. We didn't

          8  get an answer on the mental health question today.

          9  We did not get a direct answer about the open

         10  remands. Every day there continue to be dozens of

         11  children in secure detention, for example, who have

         12  been screened by the Department and found eligible

         13  for non-secure and they are not moving. They are

         14  spending days and weeks in secure detention, locked

         15  up with people accused of much more serious crimes

         16  who the courts have found should be in a more secure

         17  setting.

         18                 There has got to be an answer to this

         19  question.

         20                 I am not going to go into too much

         21  detail about the recent court proceedings, the

         22  copies of the Decision are available, but I will

         23  summarize a bit to better understand the framework

         24  within which we are working.

         25                 We can't reiterate too many times
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          2  that now we have got two branches of government

          3  telling this administration what to do. The

          4  legislature passed a state law requiring there be

          5  enough non-secure space. Now a court has said the

          6  law means what the law says, you got to do it.

          7                 And the court has also said you

          8  haven't done that City and state. It is as simple as

          9  that, I can't put it in more simple language.

         10                 We had to bring a lawsuit because the

         11  City and State would not sit down with us to talk

         12  about this problem in early 1998 when we offered. We

         13  brought a lawsuit. We spent many, many hours, there

         14  are many, many file drawers full of pieces of paper.

         15  The record was chiefly made on the experiences of

         16  children and on DJJ's own documents, and OCFS' own

         17  documents.

         18                 DJJ has acknowledged since October of

         19  '97 in testimony before this Committee that they

         20  didn't have enough group home space for the kids who

         21  needed it, and that children would have to be locked

         22  up in secure space instead.

         23                 The harm to children hasn't been

         24  disputed, it hasn't been disputed here and it hasn't

         25  been disputed in the court, but there hasn't been
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          2  much talk about it. But I don't think we can

          3  underestimate that it does harm children. Instead of

          4  being allowed to be in a more restrictive setting

          5  than home while you are awaiting your trial and to

          6  see what happens of these charges, with house

          7  parents, with behavior modification programs, with

          8  adequate school and so forth and with the

          9  opportunity to prove oneself and to show one's

         10  responsibility, which directly translates into

         11  better outcomes on disposition of the cases.

         12                 There are children missing out on

         13  those opportunities every day, being locked up

         14  behind razor wire, and fences, wearing uniforms,

         15  walking around in shackles from place to place. They

         16  shouldn't be there.

         17                 Council Member Espada talked about

         18  trying to hide the Brook Avenue facility. You can't

         19  miss it. You get out of the subway, there are huge

         20  coils of razor wire. It is a secure facility, and

         21  that is what a secure facility looks like.

         22                 It is for another day to talk about

         23  how much of that we need. But if you are a child

         24  that is supposed to be in a group home, in

         25  brownstone in Brooklyn, like in Boys Town, you go up
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          2  to that adult prison barge or even the beautiful new

          3  state-of-the-art Brook Avenue facility, you know you

          4  are in a maximum security jail, and that has an

          5  affect on kids. As well as the affect, the harm that

          6  is caused by locking up children accused of less

          7  serious things with people accused of and convicted

          8  of much more serious things.

          9                 There is a saying that is on a poster

         10  somewhere that says, you know, lock up a 13-year-old

         11  with adults and you know what he is going to want to

         12  be when he grows up. This mixing of populations

         13  can't be underestimated.

         14                 At any rate, the harm, the kids who

         15  we see every day is why we had to bring this

         16  lawsuit. Lots of paper, lots of motions, lots of

         17  proceedings, the Court issued a decision on

         18  September 8th, certifying a class so that this

         19  applies, there is no mistaking this applies to all

         20  children in New York City who need non-secure

         21  detention, and directing the City and State to

         22  devise a plan within 45 days for adequate and

         23  accessible placement of all juveniles in the class.

         24                 The reason that it is important for

         25  this Committee and Council to address these issues,
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          2  and keep the public eye on what is happening to

          3  these children is, was well said by the Court, which

          4  noted that DJJ repeatedly asserted to the court that

          5  they were under no obligation to anticipate problems

          6  in any NSD space. The Court found that because of

          7  this reluctance and failure to plan and defiant

          8  attitude by this agency, absent a court directive

          9  they will comply with their statutory duties, and

         10  that is why the court issued an order.

         11                 I am not going to go into too much

         12  more detail about the Decision, which is available.

         13                 It is notable that since this case

         14  was filed and since the Council has been holding the

         15  agency accountable for its decisions, three new

         16  group homes are about to open and more is scheduled

         17  to open.

         18                 When we were at a preliminary budget

         19  hearing in March of this year, those three group

         20  homes were supposed to open by October 1st -- I am

         21  sorry, by July 1st, now it is three months later,

         22  they are not opened.

         23                 Right now there are four more beds

         24  than there were in October of 1997, before the

         25  number fell to 75, it was 111, now it is 115, in the
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          2  middle it was 75. The delay is unacceptable. Now a

          3  Court Order says the agency has to plan and we hope

          4  the plan will not just be we are going to add a flat

          5  number of beds, but rather we are going to chart the

          6  trend, we are going to develop a flexible capacity

          7  to expand when necessary, and we hope that outside

          8  of the narrow confines of that litigation, this

          9  committee and also the agency will focus on

         10  alternatives to detention as well.

         11                 You know, housing children who should

         12  be in group homes in secure facilities is just one

         13  awful result of the City and State's choice to

         14  overuse secure facilities and detention facilities

         15  all together, in the face of alternatives being

         16  available for less costly and more effective. We

         17  have been over this time and time again. It hasn't

         18  always been me, it has been other people too, there

         19  are alternatives out there. There are alternatives

         20  the City runs right now, the Alternatives To

         21  Detention Program and the expanded ATD program,

         22  combining curfews and something like house arrest

         23  with regular daily attendance at school, those work.

         24  Those programs are highly effective, everybody in

         25  the court system agrees that work. Yet, this summer
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          2  when ATD was full and overcrowded and bursting at

          3  the seems, Probation was not allowed to expand the

          4  program. That is one City agency and another City

          5  agency, it is not even us. That is a program that

          6  works.

          7                 When we look at, there are not many

          8  statistics on the recidivism rates in the

          9  alternative programs, but everybody who has worked

         10  with them and had dozens and dozens of clients in

         11  the program know they work better, I can't quote

         12  statistics but the comparable program after

         13  sentencing, the alternative to sentencing after

         14  trial, the recidivism rates are dramatically lower

         15  in the alternative programs. Kids coming out of

         16  OCFS, formerly Division for Youth, have recidivism

         17  rates of 76 percent. Similarly situated kids going

         18  to the alternative programs, like intensive

         19  supervision probation, have recidivism rates in the

         20  30s, in the 30 percents, less than half.

         21                 There is no monetary excuse for

         22  failing to use alternative programs, and there is no

         23  effectiveness excuse. They are better and they are

         24  cheaper.

         25                 This City Administration has not
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          2  focused on those programs. There is a lock-em-up

          3  attitude afoot in the City. We urge the Council to

          4  continue to pay attention to all of these different

          5  programs, they are out there and they can be used.

          6  Right now there is a two-day conference going on, a

          7  DCJS conference, about electronic monitoring for

          8  juveniles. They have had national panels, one of my

          9  colleagues was there yesterday. These programs work

         10  if they are done properly, and they are cheap and

         11  they are effective and we can't recommend them more.

         12                 Thank you for letting us testify at

         13  the hearing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you.

         15                 What is the status of the litigation

         16  at this -- first of all, I don't know that I have

         17  seen a copy of the decision, so if you could provide

         18  one to our counsel, I will distribute it to all of

         19  the Committee members. Is there an order yet?

         20                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Today is the day for

         21  the Court to sign the order. The parties jointly

         22  submitted a proposed order reflecting the terms of

         23  the decision.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: So, the 45-day

         25  clock will start running?
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          2                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: It will run from when

          3  the Court signs the order, that could be today.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Okay.

          5                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: And at the end of the

          6  45 days, the City and the State are to submit a plan

          7  for the Court's review.  The children's lawyers have

          8  the opportunity to comment on that plan, and then

          9  the court will order some version of the plan to be

         10  an order of the court.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: And that is the

         12  point at which we would find out if the City is

         13  going to appeal?

         14                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: No, the appeal time

         15  is 30 days after the order is signed, and served on

         16  the defendants.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: And if they

         18  appeal, does that stay the process?

         19                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Not necessarily. It

         20  depends. They could seek a stay, we could oppose

         21  such a thing.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Right.

         23                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: We don't know yet

         24  whether the City and State will appeal, they haven't

         25  said.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Do you have a

          3  number in mind? I understand the focus is on the

          4  following the law and establishing the plan, but we

          5  are looking down the road at starting the budget

          6  deliberations again in January, and if there is

          7  going to be an increase in non-secure detention, we

          8  need to be thinking about that now.

          9                 So, once these three, four new

         10  programs are opened, as the Commissioner testified,

         11  certainly by the end of the year I would expect them

         12  to be open, how much more non-secure detention

         13  should we be thinking about?

         14                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: It is hard to say

         15  because one has to look at it in the whole scheme of

         16  things. But let me throw out a couple of factors,

         17  which we definitely need to think about.

         18                 One is, the existing number of beds

         19  even two years ago have been full and overflowing.

         20  So, if we add up the existing number of beds, add to

         21  it the number of extra beds the City is using under

         22  temporary waivers from the State, and they are doing

         23  that, many of the facilities have waivers to sleep

         24  kids in lounges or double and triple up the beds.

         25  Then add on the children who remain in secure
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          2  detention who shouldn't be there, which by the way

          3  is going to create a need for less secure space, and

          4  then add on trends and trying to be flexible to

          5  expand, we have got a higher number than the City is

          6  planning for already.

          7                 The courts will use options that are

          8  available to them. We have judges every day in

          9  Family Court saying, I am not ready to let this kid

         10  go home, and I know there is no space in non-secure,

         11  so I will remand him open. I know he is going to be

         12  in secure, but we will see what happens in a little

         13  while. If there is more non-secure space, the courts

         14  will use it. If there are alternative programs, the

         15  courts will use those too and then maybe we will

         16  need fewer NSD beds. It is hard to tell, but it is

         17  more than is happening now.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you.

         19                 Council Member Robinson.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Thank you very

         21  much for your testimony, and of course, to your

         22  advocacy on behalf of the children.

         23                 When you talk about planning and

         24  charting the trends, I become concerned. It is like

         25  if you build it they will come, and I am concerned
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          2  about that kind of thought, recognizing, too, of

          3  course that we need to provide for alternative

          4  services for our young people.

          5                 Do you have an idea of how many

          6  alternative to detention slots are available within

          7  the City of New York?

          8                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: I don't know. The

          9  Department of Probation certainly would. Somewhere

         10  around 100 I believe, with the Alternatives to

         11  Detention and expanded alternative, ATD.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: And would you

         13  have perhaps, say a figure where children are

         14  handled in the Family Court and how many of those

         15  that we are processing? How many of our young people

         16  are being processed on a daily basis?

         17                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: The last -- we

         18  represent about, upwards of 85 percent of the

         19  children charged with delinquency in Family Court,

         20  but we don't have all of the cases.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Well, what is

         22  the total of those that you handle?

         23                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Yes, last year we had

         24  more than 4,000 cases, and that would be -- and

         25  there are many more cases being investigated that
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          2  aren't brought and so forth. I believe the last

          3  figure that came from the Prosecutors was somewhere

          4  around 7,000 filings last year, but I can check that

          5  for you. Certainly I can get it for you, as well as

          6  the number of alternative slots.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Let me ask you

          8  this other question. Ideal, what would be the ideal

          9  amount of slots to be available in terms of

         10  Alternative to Detention? What is the ideal? Have

         11  you projected an ideal?

         12                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: We haven't. Other

         13  jurisdictions who are using these alternative

         14  programs to greater affect have done pilot programs

         15  and all of them have expanded after them after the

         16  pilots were done.

         17                 We already know, just from sitting in

         18  Family Court every day and representing kids, that

         19  kids are screened eligible for ATD, the only program

         20  that exists, and can't go because it is full.

         21                 So, certainly, you know, doubling or

         22  tripling the amount of slots, they would be used. It

         23  is very hard to tell -- it would be useful to speak

         24  to the judges as well, because they are the ones who

         25  make these decisions.
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          2                 MS. BAUM: If I could just add, there

          3  are two ways that the ATD and EATD programs are

          4  used. The first way is as an alternative to

          5  detention to prevent the child from being locked up.

          6  A child comes into Family Court and is directed by a

          7  judge to attend that program in lieu of going to a

          8  detention facility.

          9                 The other way the programs are used

         10  is as a step down from a facility. A child has been

         11  in a facility for a period of time and the judge is

         12  satisfied that the child has demonstrated sufficient

         13  compliance with the rules and regulations that he is

         14  then stepped down to a community-based program. And

         15  we believe that with the addition of more

         16  alternatives to detention, not only would we prevent

         17  more detentions in the first place from going in,

         18  but we would also then be able to reduce the length

         19  of stay in secure and non-secure detention by

         20  providing for more opportunities for children to be

         21  stepped down.

         22                 Because of the cap on admissions to

         23  ATD and EATD, fewer children were allowed the

         24  opportunity to prove themselves in the community.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Is there a city

          3  that you would point to as a model?

          4                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: You would have to

          5  combine a number of the I am afraid. Chicago has

          6  some good alternative programs going right now. They

          7  have been really innovating in both the child

          8  welfare and criminal justice arenas, and recognizing

          9  that those arenas tend to overlap.

         10                 If the Committee would like, we would

         11  be happy to submit some materials that we have on

         12  the programs in other cities?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: That would be

         14  great.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ROBINSON: That would be

         16  good.

         17                 Let me ask you something. Have you

         18  looked at the -- Boston I understand has a very, a

         19  program that is moving quite rapidly along in terms

         20  of the police and the community coming together,

         21  development of some programs there. Have you heard

         22  of anything that was going on in Boston?

         23                 MS. ROSENBLOOM: Myself? A bit. I have

         24  colleagues who are much more involved with that.

         25                 It is worth pointing out as well, and
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          2  you all know this, because you have been here, but

          3  several years ago when the Casey Foundation funded

          4  the Juvenile Detention Alternative Initiative, JDAI,

          5  that was a coalition in New York of the police and

          6  the community and defense counsel and courts and

          7  probation and prosecutors and everybody to develop

          8  alternatives, and that is where that screening

          9  instrument for the open remands came from. A number

         10  of good things came from that initiative, and Casey

         11  funded a number of cities.

         12                 Because of what has been going on in

         13  New York City, however, without the continued

         14  commitment to develop alternative programs, the

         15  Casey Foundation did not refund New York City and

         16  did refund several other sites. That is free money.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON FISHER: Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 If no one else is here to testify, we

         20  are adjourned. Thank you, everyone, for

         21  participating.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 2:40 p.m.)

         23
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